## FILED

APR 0 5 2019

#### S250108

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Supreme Court No. S250108

1

Court of Appeal No. G054241

DESIRAE LEMCKE and CHARLES HENRY RUDD,

v.

Sup. Court No. 14CF3596

Defendants and Appellants.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY

Honorable David H. Hoffer, Judge

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jeanine G. Strong, SBN 145629 STRONG APPELLATE LAW 316 Mid Valley Center #102 Carmel, CA 93923 Telephone: (831) 277-3904 Jeanie@StrongAppellateLaw.com Attorney for Charles Henry Rudd

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

This case presents the following issue: Does instructing a jury with CALCRIM NO. 315 that an eyewitness's level of certainty can be considered when evaluating the reliability of the identification violate a defendant's due process rights.

#### INTRODUCTION

The victim and eyewitness in this case, Monica Capusano, saw her attacker for seconds before he grabbed her, pulled her into a motel room, and punched her in the face. She lost consciousness and fell to the floor after he punched her two or three more times. He and his companion, Desirae Lemcke, took her purse and fled. Based solely on Capusano's eyewitness

identification, Charles Rudd, Lemcke's former boyfriend, was convicted of second degree robbery with intent to inflict great bodily harm.

Many factors cast serious doubt on the accuracy of Capusano's identification of Charles Rudd as the perpetrator. She had a fleeting glance of him before he knocked her unconscious. The identification procedures used by the police were highly questionable. And, Capusano was a less than credible witness, which even the prosecution was forced to admit.

Capusano nonetheless at trial proclaimed her certainty that Charles Rudd was the man who attacked her. She told the jury it was impossible to forget his face and his tattoo, although admitting she saw him for mere seconds, just before he raised his fist and hit her in the face. And, paradoxically, she had forgotten the tattoo. She first mentioned her attacker's tattoo three months later, when the police questioned her a second time. And, although she picked Rudd's tattoo when shown the two photos, the best she could say was the tattoo was "more like" the perpetrator's.

The jury, when evaluating her testimony, was instructed to consider "how certain" Capusano was when she made the identification. As noted, Capusano was emphatically certain. The trial court rejected the defense's request to omit or explain the certainty factor in CALCRIM No. 315. The jury was thus left to rely on their mistaken belief that a certain eyewitness is accurate. The jury had heard expert testimony, but it was too abstract to adequately inform the jury that certainty does not equal accuracy.

The erroneous jury instruction was reversible, prejudicial error that deprived Charles Rudd of his federal and state constitutional rights to due process. Had the jury not been told to consider certainty, it is highly likely that one or more jurors would have paid proper attention to the many reasons to question Capusano's identification and refused to find him guilty. The judgment of conviction must be reversed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The jury was improperly instructed with CALCRIM No. 315. The instruction incorrectly ratified the common but mistaken belief that an eyewitness' certainty correlates with accuracy. Had the certainty factor been omitted, or explained adequately, the jury would have been able to intelligently weigh all factors bearing on the reliability of the eyewitness evidence. At least one person on the jury, and likely more, would have found Charles Rudd not guilty. The error was prejudicial and deprived Mr. Rudd of his due process rights. The judgment of conviction must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An amended information filed on August 24, 2016, alleged that appellant Charles Henry Rudd and co-defendant Desirae Lee Lemke committed the following offenses on or about July 13, 2014: second degree robbery (§ 211/212.5, subd. (c), count 1), aggravated assault by means of force likely to result in great bodily injury (§ 245, subd. (a)(1), count 3), and battery with serious bodily injury (§ 243, subd. (d), count 4). Rudd was also charged with mayhem (§ 203, count 2). The information alleged enhancements for personal infliction of great bodily injury (§ 12022.7, subd. (a)) against Rudd as to counts 1 and 3, and two enhancements for prior prison terms (§ 667.5, subd. (b).) (2 CT 314-316.) The battery charge against Lemcke was dismissed. (1CT 133, 5 RT 656-657.) The charge of mayhem (count 2) against Rudd was set aside (§ 1118.1) on the ground that the alleged injury was not a prolonged disability. (1CT 133, 5RT 667–668.)

A jury found Rudd and Lemcke guilty on the robbery and assault charges, and Rudd guilty on the battery count. The jury found the great bodily injury allegations against Rudd true. (1CT 71-72, 4CT 581-585, 7RT 1103-1106 [Rudd], 1CT 143, 4 CT 585-587, 7RT 1103-1106 [Lemcke].) The court

found the prior prison term allegations against Rudd true. (1CT 42-43, 72, 7RT 1174.)

Rudd was sentenced to a total of six years in prison, the midterm of 3 years on count 1 plus 3 years for the GBI enhancement. The sentences on counts 3 and 4 were stayed. (§ 654). The court also imposed mandatory fees and fines, and reserved jurisdiction over the matter of victim restitution. (§ 1202.43). (1CT 77-78, 4CT 797-798, 7RT 1181-1190.)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 9, 2016. (1CT 79, 4CT 794.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of conviction. This Court granted Rudd's petition for review to decide whether instructing a jury to consider an eyewitness' level of certainty, when evaluating the reliability of the identification, violates a defendant's due process rights.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

### Capusano is attacked and robbed at the Royal Roman Motel.

On the evening of July 13, 2014, around 7:30 p.m., Monica Capusano (aka Rafael Barriga Capusano<sup>1</sup>) was at the Royal Roman Motel to visit a friend. (2RT 157-158.) It was getting dark. (2RT 207.) While walking along an outdoor walkway, she saw a woman, later identified as co-defendant Desirae Lemcke, standing about three feet from an open motel room door. (3RT 317.) She also saw a man standing inside the room. (2RT 169.) He was "right at the corner in the door where you go inside the room" (3RT 317) and was moving around. (3RT 321-322.)

Lemcke asked Capusano if she could use her phone. (2RT 159-160.) Capusano looked into her purse, which was over her shoulder, for her cell

Capusano is a transgender woman and asked to be addressed as a female and with feminine pronouns in the trial court proceedings. (1RT 238-239.)

phone. (2RT 159, 173.) She handed the phone to Lemcke. (2RT 165.) That encounter took about three seconds. (3RT 319-320.) She admitted she was not paying attention to the man and did not actually see him step forward, but to reach her, he must have. (2RT 160-162, 165-166, 3RT 318, 320-323.) He took her by the front or collar of her shirt, pulled her into the room and punched her in the face around four times. (2RT 160-163, 165-166.)

Capusano was dizzy and "cloudy." (2RT 163, 211-212, 217-218, 3RT 323, 347.) She lost consciousness and her face hurt. (2RT 163, 166-167.) "It was -- it was like -- right at two seconds I was feeling that I was losing consciousness." (2RT 167, 3RT 320, 326-327.) She fell on the floor and covered her face to protect herself. (2RT 166, 173, 209-210, 327-330, 334-338, 4RT 598-599.) She was kicked several times while on the floor. (3RT 341-343.) She felt her purse being pulled from her. (3RT 347-348.)

When the prosecutor asked Capusano, "Were you able to get a good look at his face?" she answered yes. (2RT 167.) She saw him when he was standing behind the woman, and also when he was punching her. She "remembered his face well." (2RT 168, 171.) It was "impossible for [her] not to recognize his face." (2RT 285.)

### Capusano calls 911 and talks to Officer Vasquez at the scene.

When Capusano regained consciousness, she was alone on the floor. Her phone and purse containing \$500 in cash were gone. Although dizzy and in pain, she went to the motel lobby and asked the clerk to call 911. (2RT 218.) The clerk declined but Capusano's friend showed up and lent her a phone. While Capusano was in the lobby, she saw the black man and the white woman leaving the motel in a cab. (2RT 212, 214-215, 226.) Nothing in the record suggests she saw their faces then. (4CT 918-926.)

In the 911 call, Capusano described the perpetrator as a black male wearing a white shirt and blue jeans, about 30 years old, between 6'1" and

6'3". (3RT 381, 4CT 918-926.) She did not tell the 911 operator she saw a tattoo on his neck. (2RT 217-218, 221, 3RT 384.)

When Officer Vasquez arrived at the scene, Capusano as stressed and crying. (4RT 590.) She described her attacker as a black male, 35 to 40 years old, 6'3" to 6'5" feet tall, 260 to 300 pounds, with balding hair, and a goatee. (2RT 202-203, 3RT 385, 4RT 590, 5RT 644.)

### The photo lineup at the hospital emergency room.

After Capusano was taken by ambulance to the hospital, Officer Vasquez discovered that the motel room was registered to Desirae Lemcke. (4RT 590-591.) A records check disclosed that Lemcke had a "no contact" order against a Charles Rudd. (4RT 591.) The order's description of Rudd roughly fit Capusano's description of her attacker, so Vasquez assembled a six-pack photo lineup that included a photo of Rudd. (4RT 592-593.)

At the hospital emergency room, Capusano was "under anesthesia" but told Vasquez she was able to answer questions. (2RT 180-182, 190-191, 267-269, 273, 3RT 360-361.) Officer Vasquez read her a form admonishment, which she signed. (4RT 595, 5RT 624 Exhibit L.) Capusano picked Charles Rudd from the lineup as the person who had attacked her. (4RT 595-596, 5RT 624, 631-632.) She signed her name by the photo, but misspelled it, writing "Refael" instead of "Rafael." (5RT 634.)

Officer Vasquez asked Capusano what she specifically recognized that made her identify Rudd. (4RT 596.) She said she recognized the nose, mouth, and jaw. (4RT 596.) The photo did not show a tattoo on either side of Rudd's neck. (5RT 651.) Officer Vasquez did not recall her mentioning a tattoo and his report did not state that she had mentioned a tattoo. (3RT 427, 460, 468, 596, 5RT 645.)

The identification process at the hospital was not recorded. It was not a blind administration; Officer Vasquez had prepared the lineup and knew

which photo was Rudd's. (Compare Pen. Code, § 859.7 [eyewitness identification protocols that will go into effect January 2020].)

### Three months later, Capusano recalls her attacker had a tattoo.

Three months after the attack, Detective Silva got a phone number for Capusano and called her. (2RT 262-263, 3RT 407.) In her discussions with Detective Silva, Capusano mentioned – for the first time — that her attacker had a tattoo on his neck. (3RT 471, 473.) She did not recall which side of the neck it was on. (3RT 435.) She could not say "exactly what type of tattoo it was because [she] didn't read and [she] didn't see the type of tattoo it was." (3RT 364-365.) Also, the tattoo was partially blocked by the perpetrator's clothing. (3RT 436, 459-460.)

A week later, Detective Silva interviewed Capusano again. (2RT 263.) He showed her two photos of tattoos. (3RT 415-416, Exhibits 5 and 6.) He told her that one or the two tattoos belonged to Rudd, the man she had previously identified at the hospital as the perpetrator. (3RT 417.) The second tattoo belonged to Marcus Horn, Lemcke's current boyfriend.<sup>2</sup> (3RT 432-433, Exhibit 6.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record does not explain how Marcus Horn, Lemcke's current boyfriend, came to the attention of the police. Detective Silva interviewed him about the same time he was interviewing Capusano. Before trial, the court excluded Detective Silva's interview with Horn on hearsay grounds, but allowed the defense to question Silva about showing Capusano a photo of Horn's neck tattoo and the photo lineup that included Horn. (1RT 45-61, 87-92, 2CT 327-340.)

The record includes a transcript of the interview. (4CT 866-915.) Horn admitted he was at the motel that evening, and that he was with Lemcke, but told Silva they left before the attack occurred. (4CT 904-906.) Since the interview was excluded and Horn did not testify, the jury did not learn of Horn's admission that he was at the motel that night with Lemcke.

Detective Silva admonished Capusano not to feel compelled to identify either tattoo. (3RT 418.) Capusano looked at the two tattoos. She picked Rudd's tattoo, saying it was "more like the one that she remembered on the person that assaulted her." (4RT 419.)

Next, Detective Silva asked Capusano if she remembered identifying a male previously. (3RT 420, Exhibit 7.) She said she had. He showed her a single photo of Rudd (the same photo from the prior lineup) and asked if she "remembered that this was a specific photograph within the lineup that she had already identified." Capusano answered yes. (3RT 420.)

Lastly, Detective Silva showed her a six-pack photo lineup that included a photo of Marcus Horn. Rudd's photo was not included in that lineup. (3RT 420-421.) Officer Silva asked "if she identified anybody from this lineup, either as someone she knew or as possibly someone who had attacked her on that date." She said no. She pointed at the photo of Rudd and "she said for sure it was Mr. Rudd." (3RT 422.)

### Capusano's in-court identification of Rudd.

At trial, Capusano was called as the prosecution's first witness. When asked if she saw her attacker in the courtroom, Capusano pointed toward Rudd, who was sitting at the defense counsel table, and said he was man who attacked her. (2RT 171.) The prosecution asked if she could see him, and she said no. From where she was sitting, part of the judge's bench was blocking her view. (2RT 284-285.) She then stood up and said he was wearing a blue shirt and underneath a black shirt. (2RT 171, 284.)

On cross examination, Capusano admitted she identified Rudd in court before she actually saw him. (2RT 284.) Defense counsel then asked Capusano if she knew who to identify because he was the only black person at the defense table. (3RT 286-287.) She answered, "Well, it's logical. He's the one." (3RT 287.)

#### Expert testimony on memory and perception.

The defense expert testified on memory and perception. He opined that if a fair lineup is done soon after the event, then "accurate identification with strong recognition memory often is made very confidently and very quickly." (5RT 759.) But outside that window of time, "confidence is not related to accuracy in any regard." (5RT 759-760.) A confident witness can be correct. (5RT 774, 783, 787.) But, an eyewitness can also be 100 percent certain of an identification, and yet be proved wrong by DNA evidence. (5RT 723, 758-760, 768-769, 796.)

#### Capusano's testimony is the only evidence implicating Rudd.

Other than Capusano's identification, there was no other evidence pointing to Rudd as the person who attacked Capusano that night at the Royal Roman Motel. The defense offered the testimony of an investigator who had shown photos of Rudd and Horn to the motel clerk who was at the time of the attack. According to the investigator, the clerk told him Rudd was not the man with Lemcke at the motel, but she could not say if Horn was. (6RT 923-925.) At trial, clerk did not recall what she told the investigator. (6RT 902-904, 907-910, 920.)

DNA evidence from Capusano's shirt was collected and analyzed. Rudd voluntarily gave a DNA sample for comparison. (4RT 482, Exhibit K.) The Orange County analyst found that the sample was "not suitable for database entry or comparison." (5RT 801-803, 6RT 854-855, 857-859.) The analyst detected DNA other than Capusano's, but under that lab's guidelines, he could not safely assume the foreign DNA came from only one person. (5RT 801-803.)

The defense DNA expert disagreed with the prosecution's analyst and considered the DNA samples suitable for comparison. Under guidelines that

permit analysis of "low-level DNA," Rudd would absolutely be excluded as the contributor of the DNA. (5RT 693-696.) Other certified labs, including the California Department of Justice lab, follow guidelines that would have permitted a comparison of the DNA. (6RT 854-855.)

## Despite inconsistencies in her testimony, Capusano remains certain she has identified the perpetrator.

There were inconsistencies in Capusano's recall of the events; even the prosecution admitted as much. (8RT 941, 944.) A critical example, Capusano claimed she reported to Officer Vasquez at the scene that the perpetrator had a tattoo on his neck. (3RT 367-369.) That was not Officer Vasquez's recollection and (5RT 645) and his police report did not reflect that Capusano reported a neck tattoo. (3RT 427, 460, 468, 596, 5RT 645.) When asked what she specifically recalled, she said his nose, mouth and jaw. (4RT 596.) The testimony and documentary evidence indicated that the tattoo was first discussed in October when Detective Silva interviewed her. (3RT 361-368, 6RT 875-876.)

Another example, Capusano testified initially that she did not regain consciousness until she was in the ambulance and on the way to the hospital. (1RT 172, 177, 180.) The prosecutor then showed her a photo of her injuries, which was taken while she was at the motel. (2RT 199, 266.) Upon seeing the photo, she remembered that she regained consciousness while she was on the floor of the motel room, explaining "I don't remember exactly because I was knocked out because of the blows." (2RT 199-200, 210-211.)

Despite these and other discrepancies in her testimony, Capusano remained certain throughout the trial that Rudd was the man who attacked her. She saw Rudd when he was standing in the room behind Lemcke, and she also saw him when he grabbed her shirt, pulled her into the room, and punched her in the face. She "remembered his face well." (2RT 168, 171.) Also, "I

remember that I saw a tattoo [on his neck], and that's why I can't forget his face." (2RT 178-179.) "It's impossible for me not to recognize his face." (2RT 285.) "The thing is that I can't forget his face or his tattoo." (3RT 363, 369.)

#### The Court of Appeal Decision

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of conviction. "We are bound by our high court's decisions holding that an instruction concerning the certainty of an eyewitness's identification is proper. In the majority opinion in Sánchez, the court stated, 'Any reexamination of our previous holdings in light of developments in other jurisdictions should await a case involving only certain identifications.' (Sánchez, supra, 63 Cal. 4th at p. 462.) This case may be such a case. Defense counsel brought the "certainty" portion of CALCRIM No. 315 to the trial court's attention. Rudd's connection to the charged offenses was not supported by any physical evidence, there were no uncertain identifications, and the case against Rudd consisted entirely of Capusano's eyewitness testimony. However, because we are bound by the decisions in Sánchez and Johnson, we reject Rudd's contention that the trial court erred in instructing the jury it should consider the certainty of eyewitness identifications."

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The scientific and academic communities have reached a consensus that an eyewitness' certainty does not correlate with accuracy. The concern expressed in *Wright*, that this theory is a "matter of ongoing scientific debate" is no longer valid.

This Court is aware of the scientific research indicating that an eyewitness' certainty about an identification does not correlate with the accuracy of the identification. "Studies concluding there is, at best, a weak correlation between witness certainty and accuracy are nothing new." (*People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 411, 462.) They were cited three decades ago in *People v. McDonald*, when the Court ruled that expert testimony may assist jurors with understanding the frailties of eyewitness identification. (*Ibid.*; see *People v. McDonald* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 351, 369 ["the majority of recent studies have found no statistically significant correlation between confidence and accuracy, and in a number of instances the correlation is negative -- i.e., the more certain the witness, the more likely he is mistaken."].)

What may be new, however, is that scientific researchers have reached a consensus that an eyewitness' certainty does not correlate with accuracy.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Wells & Quinlivan, (2009) Suggestive Eyewitness Identification Procedures and the Supreme Court's Reliability Test In Light of Eyewitness Science 30 Years Later, Law and Human Behavior, 33: 1, 11-12 (citing authorities); Leippe, et al., Cueing Confidence in Eyewitness Identifications: Influence of Biased Lineup Instructions and Pre-Identification Memory Feedback Under Varying Lineup Conditions, 33 Law & Hum. Behav. 194, 194 (2009) (summarizing prior research); Kassin et al. On the "General Acceptance" of Eyewitness Testimony Research: A New Survey of the Experts, (2001) 56 Am. Psychol. 405, 407-412; Cutler, Symposium: Reforming Eyewitness Identification: Convicting The Guilty, Protecting The Innocent: A Sample Of Witness, Crime, And Perpetrator Characteristics Affecting Eyewitness Identification Accuracy, (2006) 4 Cardozo Pub. L. Pol'y & Ethics J. 327, 337-338.

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