SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California JUL 1 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

CHARLES HENRY RUDD,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

, |

V.

Defendant and Appellant.

Deputy

Case No. S250108

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G054241 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 14CF3596 The Honorable David A. Hoffer, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

witness—that the accuser had identified the wrong person. Indeed, the instruction gave the jury the tools to reach that conclusion, by acknowledging (especially in conjunction with CALCRIM No. 226, CALCRIM No. 332, and Eisen's testimony) that the accuracy of an eyewitness's identification may be undercut by a multitude of factors. (Cf. Cupp, supra, 414 U.S. at p. 149 [rejecting due process challenge to instruction that acknowledged various ways a witness could be discredited].) As the closing arguments demonstrated, the instructions placed no obstacles in the way of Rudd's argument that witness certainty does not indicate accuracy. (See 6RT 992 [counsel's argument that "[a] lot of people think the more confident you are in the eyewitness identification, the more accurate it can be, but nothing could be farther from the truth"]; 7RT 1017 ["research is abundant showing that people can make 100 percent positive eyewitness identification and yet be 100 percent wrong"]; 7RT 1017-1018 ["Just remember Dr. Eisen's testimony, Confidence does not equal reliability. Confidence does not equal accuracy."]; 6RT 994 ["a lot of innocent people are wrongfully convicted on eyewitness identification"]; 7RT 1019 ["the fact that this witness is able to come in here and make 100 percent positive identification is really ... meaningless"].)

3. Rudd asserts, in cursory fashion, that CALCRIM No. 315 is "incomplete and misleading by omission," because it does not provide "adequate information," and therefore causes jurors to "default[] to the common misperception that a witness's certainty correlates with his or her accuracy." (OBM 29-30.) But CALCRIM No. 315 lists witness certainty as only one factor among many, presenting the jury with multiple bases on which to reject the identification of a witness notwithstanding that witness's expression of certainty. And Rudd's "default" argument is particularly inapplicable to Rudd's case, since his jury was instructed to consider his

expert witness's explanation noting a more complex relationship between witness certainty and accuracy. (See p. 16, *supra*.)

The argument is also apparently without precedent in California law. The closest analogue to Rudd's "misleading by omission" theory would appear to be People v. Ramos (1984) 37 Cal.3d 136. But that case's reasoning and circumstances provide little support for Rudd's argument. Ramos considered a statute requiring that juries in capital cases, deciding between a death sentence and life-without-parole, be instructed that "a sentence of confinement to state prison for a term of life without the possibility of parole may in [the] future after sentence is imposed, be commuted or modified to a sentence that includes the possibility of parole by the Governor of the State of California." (Id. at p. 150.) Although the U.S. Supreme Court had upheld that instruction under the federal due process clause, this Court concluded that state constitutional standards were violated for two reasons. First, the Court reasoned, the instruction was "seriously misleading" because it "would reasonably be understood by the average juror to mean, by negative implication, that while a sentence of life without possibility of parole may be commuted, a sentence of death may not." (Id. at p. 153.) Second, the instruction invited jurors to "consider matters that are ... totally speculative and that should not, in any event. influence the jury's determination"—namely, the possibility of gubernatorial clemency. (*Id.* at p. 155.)

Ramos provides no support for invalidating the quite different instruction in this case. Whether an eyewitness's identification is truthful and accurate is properly determined by the jury, and CALCRIM No. 315, unlike the instruction in Ramos, does not invite jurors to speculate as to improper considerations. Moreover, the instruction in Ramos was likely not only to mislead jurors but to do so in a particularly pernicious way with no parallel here. Jurors are instructed to accept the judge's explanations of

law, and the availability of executive clemency is something that jurors would rightly view as a legal issue. The *Ramos* instruction invited jurors to conclude that the judge had implicitly stated a position on an issue of law that jurors were powerless to second-guess. CALCRIM No. 315, in contrast, tells jurors that they alone may determine whether an identification was accurate. Witness certainty is listed only near the end of a long list of factors bearing on that inquiry, and jurors are told—through CALCRIM No. 315's final catch-all factor and other instructions—to consider all relevant evidence. (See pp. 18, 26, *supra*.) And CALCRIM No. 220 empowers jurors to employ their own judgment in determining whether to believe or disbelieve such testimony. Unlike the instruction in *Ramos*, CALCRIM No. 315—especially in conjunction with other instructions—implies no erroneous principle of law to which the jury must defer.⁸

⁸ Rudd does not argue that the instruction violated his more general right to "a fundamentally fair decision-making process." (Ramos, supra, 37 Cal.3d at p. 153.) "[T]he category of infractions that violate 'fundamental fairness" has been defined "very narrowly." (Dowling v. United States (1990) 493 U.S. 342, 352.) Here, the instructions told the jury to consider a witness's certainty among a multitude of other factors, told the jury to also consider expert testimony casting doubt on the importance of the certainty factor, and reiterated that the prosecution had the burden to prove identity beyond a reasonable doubt. Defense counsel then discussed the instructions and expert testimony in tandem, using the latter to argue that the certainty factor was of little use in the case. (See p. 42, *infra*.) In such circumstances, Rudd cannot be said to have suffered from a fundamentally unfair process. (Cf. People v. Riggs (2008) 44 Cal.4th 248, 310-311 [instruction on defendant's failure to comply with discovery obligations did not make the defendant's trial fundamentally unfair, where the instruction was "a proper statement of the applicable law, from which the parties could argue inferences that might (or might not) be drawn from the evidence presented at trial"].)

C. The Studies and Out-of-State Decisions Cited by Rudd Do Not Support His Due Process Challenge

Rudd also attempts to support his due process argument by citing scientific studies and decisions from other jurisdictions. Those arguments fall short.

1. Rudd asserts that the "scientific communit[y]" has "reached a consensus that an eyewitness's certainty does not correlate with accuracy." (OBM 22; see *id.* at 24 [discussing a "'virtually unanimous'" consensus that "'there is no correlation whatsoever between eyewitness certainty and accuracy'"], citation omitted; *id.* at 23-24 [arguing that California's jury instructions should reflect "what the research and legal scholarship has now confirmed, that an eyewitness' certainty does not predict or correlate with accuracy"].)

It is doubtful, to begin with, that empirical research that was not presented in the trial court, and not subject to judicial factfinding processes, could render the trial court's decision to give an instruction unconstitutional. That is particularly so since Rudd's current contention contradicts the expert evidence that he did present to the trial court. Dr. Eisen acknowledged that "a few years ago," a researcher specializing in eyewitness identifications "might say something like confidence is not related to accuracy in any regard." (5RT 758-759.) But, Eisen continued, that prior understanding is "not really true." (5RT 759; *see ibid.* [stating

⁹ See *People v. Lewis* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1255, 1316-1317 [holding that CALJIC No. 8.88's definition of mitigation adequately explained the concept, notwithstanding empirical research "not part of the record and not subject to cross examination, suggesting that substantial numbers of persons, given the standard instruction, misunderstand mitigation"], quoting *People v. Boyer* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 412, 486, and citing *People v. Welch* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 701, 773.

that research has now identified that, under particular circumstances, "confidence is useful"].)

Indeed, articles that Rudd cites to this Court (OBM 22, fn. 3) acknowledge the potential usefulness of certainty evidence. (See Leippe et al., Cueing Confidence in Eyewitness Identifications: Influence of Biased Lineup Instructions and Pre-Identification Memory Feedback Under Varying Lineup Conditions (2009) 33 Law & Hum. Behav. 194, 194 ["There is evidence that confidence is diagnostic of accuracy under some circumstances and can therefore contribute to valid decisions in the prosecution of a criminal case."]; Wells & Quinlivan, Suggestive Eyewitness Identification Procedures and the Supreme Court's Reliability Test in Light of Eyewitness Science: 30 Years Later (2009) 33 Law & Hum. Behav. 1, 18 ["Given no feedback at all, a witness' expression of certainty at the moment of the identification is in fact correlated (albeit imperfectly) with the accuracy of the identification."].)

Additional research confirms that view. For instance, Rudd cites a 2009 article by Gary Wells as evidence of a purported consensus that eyewitness certainty has no relation to accuracy. (OBM 22, fn. 3.)

According to that author's recent work, however, "eyewitness identification researchers have discovered that when eyewitnesses are tested using appropriate identification procedures, the confidence they express can be, and usually is, a highly reliable indicator of accuracy." (Wixted & Wells, The Relationship Between Eyewitness Confidence and Identification Accuracy: A New Synthesis (2017) 18 Psychol. Science in the Pub. Int. 10, 11; see ibid. ["a blanket disregard for eyewitness confidence not only is at odds with what has been learned in recent years but also can contribute both to the wrongful conviction of innocent suspects and to the unwarranted removal from suspicion of a guilty suspect"]; see also, e.g., Wixted, Mickes, Dunn, Clark & Wells, Estimating the Reliability of

Eyewitness Identifications from Police Lineups (2016) 113 PNAS 304, 304 [concluding, based on field study, that "confidence in an eyewitness identification from a fair lineup is a highly reliable indicator of accuracy"].)

Like Rudd's trial expert, Wells has concluded that, under appropriate circumstances, "witness confidence bears a strong relationship to accuracy." (Wixted & Wells, supra, at p. 12) Such circumstances include (1) having only one suspect per lineup; (2) ensuring the suspect does not stand out in the lineup; (3) telling the witness that the offender might not be in the lineup; (4) using double-blind testing; and (5) collecting a confidence statement at the time of the identification. (*Id.* at pp. 15-17.) The Legislature has recently required police agencies to ensure similar features in California lineups—including the elicitation of contemporaneous statements of confidence. (See § 859.7, subd. (a)(10)(A) [effective January 1, 2020].) As a result, most California identification procedures will soon include exactly the kind of confidence evidence that Rudd's own authorities find highly relevant—making it hard to justify a constitutional prohibition on mentioning witness confidence as a potential factor for the jury's consideration. Indeed, caution is especially appropriate in light of the Legislature's conclusion that collecting statements about witness confidence "can greatly improve the accuracy of identifications." (Stats. 2018, ch. 977, § 1, subd. (d).)

2. Rudd observes that "a growing number of state courts ... are concluding that changes are warranted" to lessen the risk of wrongful convictions based on inaccurate identifications. (OBM 23, fn. 5) But the decisions Rudd cites address a wide range of approaches to improving identifications; they do not support his theory that instructions such as California's violate due process.

Several of Rudd's cited cases do not rest on due process at all. (See Commonwealth v. Gomes (Mass. 2015) 22 N.E.3d 897; State v. Mitchell

(Kan. 2012) 275 P.3d 905; *Brodes v. State* (Ga. 2005) 614 S.E.2d 766, 771; *Commonwealth v. Santoli* (Mass. 1997) 680 N.E.2d 1116, 1121.) Their disapproval of certainty instructions appears to rest instead on judicial supervisory powers—a source of authority that Rudd does not invoke here.

Of the cases that do discuss due process, some do so only with respect to whether judges should allow certain kinds of identification evidence to be admitted—not how juries should be instructed as to evidence that has been admitted. (See State v. Lawson (Ore. 2012) 291 P.3d 673, 677; State v. Guzman (Utah 2006) 133 P.3d 363, 364.) But to the extent that admissibility issues are related to the instructional issue here, the relationship only weakens Rudd's constitutional claim. When police have used an identification procedure that is unduly suggestive, precedents from this Court and the United States Supreme Court require the resulting identification to be excluded from trial unless it is nevertheless "reliable" —that is, unless, under the "totality of circumstances," there is no "substantial likelihood of misidentification." (Perry v. New Hampshire (2012) 565 U.S. 228, 239-240, internal quotation marks omitted.) Among the factors that due process under federal and California law requires judges to consider is "the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation." (Neil v. Biggers (1972) 409 U.S. 188, 199; People v. Clark (2016) 63 Cal. 4th 522, 558 [similar].) Rudd does not challenge these precedents. Nor does he explain how due process would both require judges to consider witness certainty in determining an identification's reliability, and forbid courts from informing jurors of their ability to consider the same factor.

Rudd's remaining cases likewise fail to advance his claim. One case, *State v. Guilbert* (Conn. 2012) 49 A.3d 705, focused on questions about defendants' entitlement to present expert evidence on identification issues—a subject quite different from whether a particular instruction

violates due process. *State v. Long* (Utah 1986) 721 P.2d 483, 492, in turn, held that the due process clause of Utah's constitution requires some cautionary instruction on eyewitness identification, but did not hold that reference to eyewitness certainty had to be omitted from such an instruction. And *State v. Cabagbag* (Haw. 2012) 277 P.3d 1027 proposed an instruction whose statement of the certainty factor resembles that in the California instruction at issue here. (See *id.* at 1039 [proposing, apparently under the court's supervisory power, that jurors be instructed to consider factors including "[t]he extent to which the witness is either certain or uncertain of the identification"].)¹⁰

II. ANY ERROR WOULD BE HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

Even if the instruction had violated due process, it would not have prejudiced Rudd. "'[I]nstructional errors—whether misdescriptions, omissions, or presumptions—as a general matter fall within the broad category of trial errors subject to *Chapman* [v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24] review on direct appeal.' [Citations.]" (*People v. Huggins* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 175, 211-212; cf. *Calderon v. Coleman* (1998) 525 U.S. 141, 146-147 [the "reasonable likelihood" test under *Boyde v. California* (1990)

¹⁰ Rudd also cites *State v. Henderson* (N.J. 2011) 27 A.3d 872, which revised New Jersey's approach to the admissibility of identification testimony and included elaborate requirements for jury instructions on a variety of issues, including witness certainty. To the extent that Rudd argues not merely that the certainty factor should have been removed from his instruction, but also that a more detailed instruction should have been given (OBM 25-27, 29-34), that argument is not properly before this Court. Rudd did not make such a request at trial. (6RT 889-892; *see People v. Ward* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 186, 213 ["defendant never requested the additions he now asserts should have been given; and we find no basis for imposing a sua sponte duty to modify CALJIC 2.92 as now asserted"].) Nor did he raise the argument in the Court of Appeal or in his petition for review. (See Rule 8.516(b)(1), Cal. R. Ct.)

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